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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE CENTRAL DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS

JANE DOE; and
JANE ROE, by and through her
next friend JULIE ROE;
Plaintiffs,
Honorable
v
Case No.

MACOMB COMMUNITY UNIT SCHOOL
DISTRICT NO. 185; BOARD OF EDUCATION
OF MACOMB COMMUNITY UNIT SCHOOL
DISTRICT NO. 185; JOHN RUMLEY,

Individually and as an Agent of MACOMB
COMMUNITY UNIT SCHOOL DISTRICT

NO. 185; and ED FULKERSON, Individually and as
an Agent of MACOMB COMMUNITY UNIT
SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 185;

Defendants.

COMPLAINT AND JURY DEMAND

INTRODUCTION
1. From 2014 to 2017, Defendants harbored and protected a known repeat sexual
predator, student M.P., the son of a teacher at Macomb Senior High School (“MSHS”) in
Macomb, Illinois.! Defendants received multiple credible reports that M.P. sexually harassed,
assaulted, and violently penetrated Plaintiff Jane Doe, and, two years later, Plaintiff Jane Roe,
yet Defendants allowed M.P. to attend school without discipline or restriction; refused to enforce
civil no contact orders issued against M.P.; and left Plaintiffs, both freshmen students at the time

of the sexual abuse, to protect themselves from continued sexual harassment and violence at

! For purposes of this Complaint, the then-minor male perpetrator is referred to as “M.P.,” which
does not reveal his true initials, in compliance Fed. R. Civ. P. 5.2(a) requiring the protection of a
minor person’s identity in public court filings.
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MSHS. Defendants effectively forced Plaintiffs to leave MSHS in order to escape the school’s
hostile and discriminatory educational environment.

2. In early 2014, M.P. sexually harassed fellow freshman Jane Doe by repeatedly
slapping her buttocks, grabbing her breasts, and following her at MSHS. Defendants ignored
Jane Doe’s and her mother’s four separate reports of M.P.’s continuing serial harassment,
battery, and stalking. Defendant John Rumley, Principal of MSHS, told Jane Doe, “guys are
going to do what guys are going to do.”

3. M.P.’s sexual misconduct, gone unchecked by school officials, then escalated. He
followed Jane Doe into the school band room, restrained her, shoved his hand down her pants,
and penetrated her vagina with his finger, while Jane cried and tried to escape. Defendants
learned of M.P.’s finger rape of Jane Doe, yet still failed to investigate, refused to comply with
Jane Doe’s civil no contact order issued against M.P., did not discipline or increase supervision
of M.P., and failed to take any step to prevent his further harassment and violence against Jane
Doe. Defendant Fulkerson, Assistant Principal of MSHS, told Jane Doe’s mother the situation
was Jane’s fault, and he would not disrupt his school for “girls that accuse people of things.”

4, In fall 2016, M.P., then a 17-year-old senior at MSHS, sexually battered another
female student, Jane Roe, who at the time was a 14-year-old freshman and new to the school.
M.P. isolated Jane Roe in the school auto shop, pushed her against a car, and forcibly raped her
with his finger, against her will and without her consent. A few weeks later, he encountered Jane
Roe at a public park in Macomb, and he grasped her by the neck, fondled her breasts, touched
her thighs, and attempted to kiss her, all of which was captured on video by a nearby security

camera. Jane Roe begged him to stop and managed to get away.
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5. Just as Defendants failed Jane Doe, they also failed Jane Roe. The sole step
Defendants took to supposedly “investigate” Jane Roe’s report of M.P.’s sexual harassment was
to review school video taken outside of the auto shop, which they discounted because they
determined Jane was not forced to enter the room and was in the auto shop with M.P. for “only”
a little over two minutes, apparently failing to understand that sexual violence can easily occur in
under two minutes. Defendants failed to inform Jane Roe or her mother, Julie Roe, that previous
reports had been made reéarding M.P.’s sexual harassment against another female student.
Defendants also refused to enforce a civil no contact order that prohibited M.P. from entering
MSHS when Jane Roe was there, and they took no steps to protect Jane Roe, despite knowing of
M.P.’s previous reported harassment, battery, and violence against Jane Doe and that criminal
charges were filed against him for his sexual abuse against Jane Roe. Defendant Fulkerson told
Julie Roe that she should keep her daughter at home while M.P. was at school.

6. Defendants’ many failures, along with their retaliation against Plaintiffs for
reporting M.P.’s sexual abuse and violence, caused both Jane Doe and Jane Roe to transfer to the
local “alternative” school that offered fewer classes, provided no live classroom interaction with
teachers or other students, and where there were no extracurricular activities or clubs, and to
sacrifice many educational opportunities and benefits. Jane Doe and her family moved out of
Macomb to escape the hostile environment of the school district and community. Defendants
refused Jane Roe’s request to return to MSHS or participate in MSHS extracurricular activities
and student clubs, and she remains at the alternative school. Jane Roe had a Section 504 Student
Accommodation at MSHS, which is unavailable at the alternative school. Both Plaintiffs have
suffered great emotional and psychological harm and have been hospitalized due to Defendants’

callous indifference and discrimination.
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7. Plaintiffs seek recovery for the significant damages they have suffered as a result
of Defendants’ violations of the Educational Amendments of 1972 (Title IX), 20 U.S.C. § 1681,
et seq.; federal rights; equal protection rights under the 14th Amendment to the U.S.
Constitution, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983; and state law described in this Complaint.

JURISDICTION

8. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §
1331 because this litigation involves matters of federal law, specifically claims made under the
Education Amendments of 1972 (Title IX), 20 U.S.C. § 1681 ef seq., and claims for deprivation
of civil rights under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and the United States Constitution.

9. This Court also has subject matter jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 28
U.S.C. § 1343(a)(3) & (4) because this litigation involves claims for deprivation of civil rights
under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

10.  This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the state law claims alleged herein
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367, as they form part of the same case or controversy stemming from
the allegations that form the basis of the federal claims in this action.

11.  Venue in this District is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391, as all of the relevant
facts giving rise to this case and damages sustained by Plaintiffs occurred in this District.

PARTIES

12.  Plaintiff Jane Doe is a former MSHS student. At the time she suffered M.P.’s
sexual harassment and abuse and sex discrimination at MSHS, she was a minor and a resident of
McDonough County, Illinois. She is now an 18-year-old resident of Marshall County, Iowa.
This Complaint is filed prior to Jane Doe’s 19th birthday, and thereby is filed within the

applicable statute of limitations.
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13.  Plaintiff Jane Roe is a former MSHS student. She is a minor and resident of
McDonough County, Illinois.

14.  Julie Roe is the mother and next friend of Jane Roe. She is a resident of
McDonough County, Illinois.

15. Defendant Macomb Community Unit School District No. 185 (“School District”)
is a recipient of federal funds within the meaning of 20 U.S.C. § 1681(a). The School District
geographically lies within McDonough County, Illinois, and approximately 2,100 students attend
schools within the School District, including MSHS.

16. Defendant Board of Education of Macomb Community Unit School District No.
185 (“School Board”) governs and operates Defendant School District and has the authority to
adopt, enforce, and monitor all policies for the management and governance of the District’s
schools, including MSHS.

17.  Defendants School District and School Board are collectively referred to herein as
“School Defendants.”

18. Defendant John Rumley by information and belief is a resident of McDonough
County, Illinois. At all times relevant to this Complaint, Defendant Rumley was the Principal of
MSHS, employed by and in the course and scope of his employment with School Defendants.

19. Defendant Ed Fulkerson by information and belief is a resident of McDonough
County, Illinois. At all times relevant to this Complaint, Defendant Fulkerson was the Assistant
Principal of MSHS, employed by and in the course and scope of his employment with School

Defendants.
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FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

School Defendants Ignored Reports of M.P.’s Sexual Harassment against Jane Doe

20. Jane Doe was a freshman student at MSHS during the 2013-2014 academic year.

21. M.P. also was a freshman student at MSHS during the 2013-2014 academic year.

22. M.P.’s parent was employed by School Defendants as a teacher at MSHS at all
times relevant to this Complaint.

23. M.P. sexually harassed Jane Doe at MSHS on approximately 20 occasions,
including by slapping her buttocks, grabbing her breasts, and stalking her throughout the school.
M.P. warned Jane Doe that she should not tell anyone about his misconduct.

24. In March or April 2014, Jane Doe, then 15-years-old, reported to Defendant
Rumley and an MSHS counselor that M.P. was sexually harassing her at school, had touched her
buttocks and breasts, was following her, and made her feel very uncomfortable. Defendants
ignored her report, and M.P. continued to sexually harass and batter Jane Doe. Jane reported the
harassment two more times to school officials, who did nothing.

25. Defendant Rumley dismissed Jane Doe’s reports by telling her, “guys are going to
do what guys are going to do.”

26.  Jane Doe’s mother noticed that her daughter was social withdrawn and distraught,
and Jane told her mother about M.P.’s harassment and abuse.

27. In April 2014, Jane Doe’s mother spoke to Defendant Rumley and reported to him
that M.P. was sexually harassing and abusing her daughter. Defendant Rumley assured her the

problem would be “monitored.”
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28.  However, Defendants did not investigate the reports of M.P.’s sexual harassment
and assaults against Jane Doe, institute any disciplinary measures against M.P., or take any steps

to protect Jane.

M.P.’s Sexual Harassment and Battery Escalated against Jane Doe

29.  Approximately one week after Jane’s mother had reported M.P.’s sexual
harassment against Jane Doe to Defendant Rumley, and Defendants did nothing to discipline,
monitor, or supervise M.P., he violently sexually penetrated Jane Doe on school property.

30. M.P. followed Jane Doe into the school band room, where they were alone,
grabbed Jane’s arm, and pinned her against the wall. He tried to kiss Jane, and she told him to
stop. M.P. then tightened his grip on Jane, shoved his hands down her pants and under her
underwear, and digitally penetrated Jane’s vagina. Jane tried to get away and was crying. M.P.
stopped his assault only when another student entered the band room.

Defendants Disregarded the Report of M.P.’s Sexual Violence

against Jane Doe, Refused to Comply with a Civil No Contact Order, and
Failed to Take Any Measure to Protect Jane Doe from Continued Harassment and Retaliation

31.  Jane Doe was extremely distraught, did not want to attend school, and was
terrified of going to the class she had that was taught by M.P.’s parent.

32. Jane Doe’s mother was very concerned about her daughter. Jane confided in her
mother that M.P. had violently penetrated her in the MSHS band room.

33. The next day, Jane’s mother contacted law enforcement and MSHS, and reported
M.P.’s sexual violence against her daughter. Jane and her mother also went to MSHS, where
they met with law enforcement, Defendants Rumley and Fulkerson, and the school counselor,

and they provided reports to law enforcement and the school.
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34, In the following weeks, Defendants still did not investigate the reports regarding
M.P.’s harassment and assault against Jane Doe, did not interview Jane Doe, did not discipline
M.P., and did nothing to protect Jane from M.P., while they allowed M.P. to attend MSHS
without any restrictions. Defendants did not provide any written memorialization to Jane Doe or
her mother regarding their many reports of M.P.’s sexual harassment.

35.  During those same weeks, M.P. verbally harassed and continued to try to touch
Jane Doe, and warned her that she should not tell anyone. Jane was terrified to attend school.

36.  Jane Doe and her mother, left on their own to ensure Jane’s safety with no help
from Defendants, obtained a civil no contact order against M.P.

37. Jane Doe’s mother met with Defendant Fulkerson and provided him with a copy
of the no contact order.

38. Defendant Fulkerson laughed at Jane’s mother, threw the no contact order down,
stated he would not follow the order, and proclaimed his school was not under any obligation to
adhere to such orders. Fulkerson asked Jane’s mother how she intended to keep her daughter
safe, claimed the situation was Jane’s “fault,” and stated he would not disrupt his school for
“girls that accuse people of things.”

39. On May 12, 2014, Jane’s mother spoke with Superintendent Patrick Twomey and
informed him of what Fulkerson had told her. Twomey instructed her to return to MSHS so
arrangements could be made for the school to comply with the no contact ordef.

40. Jane’s mother then met with Defendant Rumley. Rumley stated he would not
disrupt M.P.’s schedule, and that Jane would be pulled out of classes she shared with M.P. He
also stated that Jane could no longer attend the after school assistance program in which M.P.

was also enrolled.
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41. M.P.’s parent, who taught one of Jane’s classes, began giving Jane failing grades
in retaliation for her reporting M.P.’s sexual assault and harassment. M.P.’s parent also openly
gossiped to other teachers regarding Jane and her complaints against M.P. Jane had to transfer to
a lower level math class to escape the retaliation and harassment from M.P.’s parent.

42. On May 19, 2014, Jane Doe’s mother reported to Superintendent Twomey that
M.P.’s parent was harassing and retaliating against Jane. Twomey refused to do anything to stop
the teacher’s retaliation and misconduct.

43. Jane finished the remaining weeks of school at MSHS, where she continued to see
M.P. at least two to three times per week and suffered continued harassment from School
Defendants’ employees and students, who told her she “got what she deserved,” and “boys will
be boys.”

44, Defendants did not offer Jane Doe any counseling or other services to remediate

the harassment and hostility she suffered at MSHS.

Jane Doe Transferred to a Different School
and Her Family Moved Away from Macomb

45. Jane, knowing that School Defendants would not take actions to protect her at
MSHS, withdrew from MSHS and enrolled at the “alternative” school, the Academy of
Secondary Education (“ASE”), for the 2014-2015 academic year, in order to escape the hostile
and discriminatory environment at MHS.

46. At ASE, all of Jane’s classes were on-line video courses, without live classroom
interaction with a teacher or other students. ASE did not offer extracurricular activities and had
a more limited class selection than MSHS.

47. By Jane Doe’s junior year, she and her mother moved out of Macomb, in order to

escape the unbearable abuse and harassment of the school and community.
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48.  Jane Doe has no trust in schools, has been in counseling, has a difficult time
socializing, rarely leaves her home, has panic attacks in social situations, and has been
hospitalized due to the anxiety and depression she suffered from Defendants’ discrimination

against her and failure to protect her.

M.P. Twice Sexually Assaulted and Battered Jane Roe in Fall 2016

49. In fall 2016, Jane Roe was 14-years-old, and she began the academic year as a
freshman at MSHS. Jane Roe enjoyed school and was active in extracurricular activities,
including the one-act school play, anime club, and youth group. She was looking forward to
trying out for the winter play.

50.  Jane Roe had a Section 504 Student Accommodation Plan that provided school
accommodations for her depression and anxiety.

51. In fall 2016, M.P. was 17-years-old and a senior at MHS. He was the president of
a club in which Jane Roe participated.

52. On September 20, 2016, Jane Roe stayed after school for one-act play practice.
When practice ended, she encountered M.P. He offered to show Jane, who was new to MSHS,
around the school building.

53. M.P. took Jane Roe to the MSHS auto shop classroom. M.P. pushed Jane Roe up
against a car, shoved his hands down her pants, and digitally penetrated her. Jane Roe pushed
M.P. away and told him to stop. M.P. stopped, and he instructed Jane Roe not to tell anyone

about the assault.

54.  After the assault, Jane Roe messaged a friend on Facebook and reported to her
that M.P. took her to the workshop, kissed her, started to “finger” her, and she was “freaking out

cuz | feel gross.”

10
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55. M.P. told Jane Roe that he wanted to be her “friend with benefits” until he turned
18, apparently under the mistaken belief that his assault, battery, and abuse against Jane Roe
could not be considered criminal misconduct until he turned 18.

56. On Monday, October 10, 2016, M.P. again sexually assaulted Jane Roe. Jane and
a friend were in downtown Macomb, and they encountered M.P. Jane’s friend left to go home,
and Jane believed she was safe because she and M.P. were in a public park. M.P. then attempted
to kiss Jane, groped her breasts, touched her thighs, and held her by the neck and would not let
her gd. Jane Roe was terrified, and pleaded with M.P. to stop. M.P. finally released her, and he
told her not to tell anyone. The assault was captured on video footage from a local bank. Jane
Roe went to the Macomb library.

57.  Jane Roe messaged two friends on Facebook and told them about the assault. She

wrote:
“Me [, another female student,] and [M.P.] were hanging out and [female student]
had to leave so it was just me and [M.P.] and he kissed me and was feeling me up
and wouldn’t let me pull away and kept trying to get me to do more and I thought
we’d be okay cuz we’re in public and . . . ’'m shaking really badly and about to
cry because I feel so violated and I don’t wanna go near him ever again.”

“I’m frozen [a]nd scared but he left so I should be fine but my mouth feels
disgusting and my body feels violated.”

58.  One friend responded, encouraged her to report to Defendant Fulkerson, and

wrote, “I’m not letting [M.P.] get away with it again . . . He hurt my sister. ..”

59. Jane Roe asked her mother to pick her up. Jane told her mother about M.P.’s

sexual harassment and violence against her.

60. M.P. text messaged Jane Roe, and she wrote, “I wasn’t comfortable with what
was happening earlier. I was trying to get you to stop and you wouldn’t.” M.P. responded,

“Sorry. That was stupid of me.” Jane Roe responded, “I didn’t want you to do that and I feel

11
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really weird about it and feel really violated.” M.P. wrote, “I should have stopped.. I know. 'm

an idiot.”

Defendants Disregarded the Report of M.P.’s Sexual Violence against Jane
Roe, and Placed the Entire Onus on Jane and Her Mother to Prevent Further Harassment

61. On Tuesday, October 11, 2016, Julie Roe reported to Defendant Rumley and
MSHS counselor Susan Conlon that M.P. had sexually assaulted Jane Roe, including in the
school auto shop and the park. Julie and Jane Roe also reported the sexual assaults to law
enforcement. Detective Denise Cremer was assigned to the criminal investigation.

62.  Defendants took no immediate action to protect Jane from M.P. Jane Roe was
afraid of encountering M.P. and feared for her safety, and she did not go to school for the
remainder of the week.

63. On October 14, 2016, Julie Roe, at the advice of law enforcement, obtained an
emergency civil no contact order for Jane Roe against M.P. The order prohibited M.P. from,
among other things, entering or remaining at MSHS while Jane Roe was there.

64.  That same day, Julie Roe requested a meeting with Defendant Fulkerson. At the
meeting, Julie provided Fulkerson with a copy of the no contact order. Fulkerson commented,
“we deal with these all the time,” and he rolled his eyes as Julie reported her concerns about
Jane’s safety. He stated the school would not follow the order, as M.P. had the right to attend
MSHS. Fulkerson told Julie she should keep Jane Roe at home while M.P. was at school.
Assistant Principal Tera Twitchell joined the meeting, and she advocated for M.P., stating, I

know this boy very well and he is not the type of kid to be running around the school during

class periods.”

12



1:18-cv-01072-JBM-JEH #1 Page 13 of 35

65. On October 17, 2016, Julie Roe obtained a modification to the original no contact
order. The modified order specifically stated that M.P. could not attend MSHS, and that he
should be immediately transferred to an alternate school.

66.  That same day, Julie Roe, her mother and father who are both retired principals,
Defendant Fulkerson, Assistant Principal Twitchell, School Resource Officer J.P. McLaughlin,
and Detective Cremer met at MSHS to discuss a safety plan and educational support for Jane
Doe. Julie provided the school with the modified Order. School personnel stated they were
“looking into” the order, but they were sure M.P. would be back in the school within two weeks.

67. School personnel stated they would not require M.P. to change his schedule or
otherwise restrict his activities in the school. Their “safety plan” was to require Jane Roe to
change her schedule and eat lunch in a different location than where she usually had lunch, and
for her to wait in each classroom for five minutes after the bell rang before heading to a new
class, so she could hopefully avoid encountering M.P. in the hallways.

68.  Julie Roe reminded school personnel of Jane Roe’s Sgction 504 plan, and stated
any disruption in Jane’s routine and schedule would be contrary to the plan and cause Jane stress
and anxiety. School personnel disregarded Julie’s concern.

69. Julie Roe and her father asked Defendant Fulkerson whether M.P. would be
disciplined. Fulkerson stated, if they disciplined M.P., then they would also discipline Jane Roe.

70. School Resource Officer McLaughlin downplayed M.P.’s abuse and harassment
against Jane Roe and stated, “I’ve seen way worse victims than this.”

71. Defendant Fulkerson also discounted the report of M.P.’s sexual assault against

Jane Roe in the MSHS auto shop. Fulkerson stated he had looked at video footage from

13
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September 20, 2016, and he concluded, “[Jane Doe] was not in any way forced into the room”
and “they were only in the room for 2 minutes and a few seconds.”

72.  One of Jane Roe’s teachers was M.P.’s parent. Julie Roe expressed concern about
potential retaliation and her daughter’s emotional and educational well-being if she remained in
M.P.’s parent’s class. The school’s answer was to suggest Jane Roe take an online algebra course
paid for by Julie Roe.

73. Defendants conducted no formal investigation of M.P.’s sexual harassment
against Jane Roe, other than Defendant Fulkerson’s supposed review of video footage from
outside of the auto shop. Based upon information and belief, Defendants also did not review
video footage of M.P.’s sexual assault against Jane Roe at the park. Defendants did not conduct
interviews with Jane Roe, M.P., or any other students, and they did not issue any written findings
or provide anything in writing to Jane or her mother that memorialized their complaint against
M.P.

Jane Roe Transferred Out of MSHS to ASE, and Defendants Refused to
Allow Her to Return to MSHS or Participate in MSHS Extracurricular Activities

74. On October 18, 2016, Jane Roe attempted to return to school. She attended
classes on October 18 and 19, 2016.

75. On October 20, 2016, Jane experienced a panic attack because of her fear of
encountering M.P. and being subjected to further harassment. Jane went to see a guidance
counselor, who told her to return to class. Jane sought out additional help, and spent the rest of
her day in Conlon’s office. Julie Roe had to arrange for a counselor from the Western Illinois
Regional Council to travel to the school and assist Jane Roe at school that day.

76. Defendants offered no psychological counseling or other supportive resources to

Jane Roe to remediate the hostile environment and harassment she suffered.

14
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77.  Jane and Julie Roe, knowing that Defendants would take no action to protect Jane
from M.P., who she was terrified to encounter at MSHS, and that Defendants required Jane to
alter her schedule and classes and limit her activities at school — while M.P. would be free to
roam the school, take classes, and engage in school activities without restriction or alteration to
his schedule — decided to transfer Jane to the “altermative” school, ASE, for the short term so that
Jane could be in a safer and more secure educational environment.

78. On October 21, 2016, Julie Roe informed Defendant Rumley that Jane was
transferring to ASE for a short period of time, and no longer than the remainder of the semester.

79.  Defendant Rumley told Julie Roe that she should seek a change to the no contact
order so that M.P., her daughter’s assailant, could return to MSHS.

80. Defendants allowed M.P. to return to MSHS without restrictions, consequences,
or any disciplinary action.

81. On November 1, 2016, at a hearing on Jane Roe’s no contact order against M.P.,
Defendant Rumley appeared to testify on M.P.’s behalf.

82. On or about November 29, 2016, the McDonough County State’s Attorney’s
Office filed juvenile criminal sexual abuse charges against M.P. for his September 20 and
October 10, 2016 assaults against Jane Roe. Based upon information and belief, Defendants
were made aware of the criminal charges.

83. At ASE, Jane was able to take only on-line recorded video classes, without live
interaction with a teacher or other students. ASE does not offer any Section 504
accommodations for Jane’s depression and anxiety. ASE does not offer any extracurricular

activities or clubs, and its course selection is more limited than that at MSHS.

15
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84.  In mid-December 2016, Julie Roe requested that her daughter be allowed to
transfer back to MSHS. Counselor Conlon stated MSHS did not want to “upset the apple cart,”
and that Jane was not permitted to transfer back.

85.  Defendants did not permit Jane Roe to transfer back to MSHS for the 2017-2018
academic year, and Defendant Rumley denied Julie Roe’s request that Jane be allowed to
participate in extracurricular activities at MSHS. Jane Roe currently attends ASE.

86.  During summer 2017, M.P. agreed to serve a period of time in a juvenile
detention facility and issue an apology letter to Jane Roe in return for dismissal of the criminal
case against him. Based upon information and belief, the State’s Attorney and M.P. entered into
this agreement so that M.P. could enter the military after graduation from MSHS. Based upon
information and belief, M.P. was in the military for approximately one week before he was
discharged due to misconduct.

87.  Julie Roe, at a hearing on the criminal proceedings against M.P., read her impact
statement, and stated:

“As a mother, my heart was broken as I have watched my daughter wither and

become a stranger. I’ve watched the curiosity and wonder leave her eyes. I have

seen her smile fade. I have watched her fall into a hole of sadness that I cannot

pull her from. While I watched her disappear, you, [M.P.], have continued your

life with little interruption. You participated in the school clubs, went to the

school dances and extracurricular activities, you graduated and walked at the

ceremony to receive your diploma. All those things she has been deprived of, you

have continued to enjoy. You have continued to benefit while she has been

denied the same opportunities."

88.  Jane Roe has had panic attacks, been in counseling, and was hospitalized due to

the anxiety and depression she suffered from Defendants’ discrimination against her and failure

to protect her.

16
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School Defendants Failed to Provide Essential Title IX and Sexual
Harassment Training to Administrators, Staff, Students, and Students’ Parents

89.  In 1998, the U.S. Supreme Court stated, “[t]he number of reported cases involving
sexual harassment of students in schools confirms that harassment unfortunately is an all too
common aspect of the educational experience.” Gebser v. Lago Vista Indep. Sch. Dist., 524 U.S.
274,292 (1998).

90. In 1999, the U.S. Supreme Court determined that schools may be held liable in
private Title IX actions for monetary damages when they are deliberately indifferent to student-
against-student sexual misconduct and harassment. See Davis v. Monroe Cnty. Bd. of Educ., 526
U.S. 629 (1999). The Court stated deliberate indifference may be shown when a school makes
no effort to investigate or put an end to student-against-student sexual harassment. /d. at 654.

91. In January 2001, the U.S. Department of Education Office for Civil Rights
(“OCR”) issued Revised Sexual Harassment Guidance: Harassment of Students by School
Employees, Other Students, or Third Parties (“2001 OCR Guidance”), informing all U.S.
schools receiving Federal financial assistance, including School Defendants, that “[p]reventing
and remedying sexual harassment in schools is essential to ensuring a safe environment in which
students can learn.” OCR reminded schools that student-against-student sexual misconduct
constitutes prohibited sexual harassment. OCR also stated:

“[S]chools need to ensure that employees are frained so that those with authority

to address harassment know how to respond appropriately, and other responsible

employees know that they are obligated to report harassment to appropriate

school officials. Training for employees should include practical information

about how to identify harassment and, as applicable, the person to whom it

should be reported.”

92. The 2001 OCR Guidance stated, with respect to student-against-student sexual

harassment:

17
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“If a student sexually harasses another student and the harassing conduct is

sufficiently serious to deny or limit the student’s ability to participate in or benefit

from the program, and if the school knows . . . about the harassment, the school is

responsible for taking immediate effective action to eliminate the hostile

environment and prevent its recurrence. . . . [I]f, upon notice, the school fails to

take prompt, effective action, the school’s own inaction has permitted the student

to be subjected to a hostile environment that denies or limits the student’s ability

to participate in or benefit from the school’s program on the basis of sex.”

93. In January 2006, OCR issued Dear Colleague Letter — Sexual Harassment Issues,
to U.S. public schools, including School Defendants, stating, “fufnfortunately, a significant
number of students are still subjected to sexual harassment, which can interfere with a
student’s education as well as his or her emotional and physical well-being.” OCR reminded
public schools of their obligation “to take immediate and effective steps to end sexual
harassment when it occurs, prevent its recurrence, and remedy its effects.”

94.  In September 2008, OCR issued Sexual Harassment. It’s Not Academic,
reiterating that unwelcome student-against-student sexual touching is sexual harassment, and that
sexual harassment includes rape, sexual assault, dating violence, and sexually motivated stalking.

95. On April 4, 2011, OCR sent Dear Colleague Letter: Sexual Violence (“2011 OCR
Guidance”), to all U.S. public schools, including School Defendants, that issued a “call to
action” to the nation’s schools because of “deeply troubling” data regarding school-place sexual
violence. OCR informed schools, “[dJuring the 2007-2008 school year, there were 800
reported incidents of rape and attempted rape and 3,800 reported incidents of other sexual
batteries at public high schools.” The Guidance stated, “[a] number of different acts fall into the
category of sexual violence, including rape, sexual assault, sexual battery, and sexual coercion.
All such acts of sexual violence are forms of sexual harassment covered under Title IX.”

96. The 2011 OCR Guidance reminded schools they have an obligation to investigate

reports of sexual harassment, must designate at least one employee to coordinate and comply
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with Title IX responsibilities, and recommended schools provide training and education to
employees and students on sexual harassment and violence.?

97.  On April 24, 2013, OCR sent Dear Colleague Letter: Retaliation, to all U.S.
public schools, including School Defendants, reminding them they may not retaliate against
students or parents who complain to a school about a civil rights violation like sexual
discrimination.

98. On April 24, 2015, OCR sent Dear Colleague Letter: Title IX Coordinators, and
issued a Title IX Resource Guide, to all U.S. public schools, including School Defendants. OCR
reminded schools of their obligation to designate at least one employee as a Title IX Coordinator
who is responsible for coordinating the school’s efforts to comply with and carry out the school’s
Title IX responsibilities, pursuant to 34 C.F.R. §106.8(a). OCR stated, “In our enforcement
work, OCR has found that some of the most egregious and harmful Title IX violations occur
when a recipient fails to designate a Title IX coordinator or when a Title IX coordinator has not
been sufficiently trained or given the appropriate level of authority to oversee the recipient’s
compliance with Title [X.”

99.  Based upon information and belief, despite clear notice by the U.S. Supreme
Court and OCR regarding School Defendants’ obligations to prevent and remediate the effects of
sexual harassment, at all times relevant hereto School Defendants failed to provide training or
education to administrators, staff, students, and parents regarding Title IX, student-against-

student sexual harassment, or retaliation against students who report sexual harassment.

2 The U.S. Department of Education withdrew this Dear Colleague Letter on September 22,
2017. However, the statistics cited above have not changed, and the requirements set forth above
have not been formally revised or otherwise superseded by the U.S. Department of Education.
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100. Based upon information and belief, School Defendants, at all times relevant
hereto, failed to provide training or education to administrators, staff, students, and parents on
protecting students from sexual harassment and violence, interviewing victims and potential
witnesses of sexual harassment, investigating reports of sexual harassment, remediating sexual
harassment and violence, proper reporting of suspected sexual harassment or violence to School
Defendants’ employees, and prohibition on retaliating against students who report sexual
harassment.

101. At all times relevant hereto, School Defendants, based upon information and
belief, had no Title IX coordinator or other employees designated to handle complaints of sexual
harassment who were adequately trained in receiving, coordinating or investigating reports of
sexual harassment and discrimination against students.

102. At all times relevant hereto, School Defendants’ officially adopted sexual
harassment policies were inequitable and inadequate with respect to investigating and properly
responding to reports of student-against-student sexual harassment, and, in any event, based
upon information and belief, School Defendants failed to provide training or education on those

policies to administrators, staff, students, and parents.

COUNT 1
Violation of the Educational Amendments of 1972 (Title IX), 20 U.S.C. § 1681, ef seq.
(Against School Defendants)
As to Jane Doe, Post-First Report of Sexual Harassment
103.  Plaintiffs incorporate all preceding paragraphs into this Count by reference as

though fully stated herein.

104. No later than March or April 2014, School Defendants had actual knowledge of

M.P.’s sexual harassment and unwelcomed inappropriate touching against Jane Doe. Jane Doe
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and her mother both made additional reports of M.P.’s sexual harassment, assault, battery, and
violence against Jane Doe in March and April 2014.

105.  Jane Doe suffered repeated student-against-student sexual assault and harassment,
which is considered sex discrimination prohibited by Title IX.

106.  The individuals with actual knowledge, including Defendants Rumley and
Fulkerson, had the authority and ability to investigate and take meaningful corrective action to
end or prevent M.P.’s repeat sexual harassment, assaults, and violence against Jane Doe, but
failed to do so.

107.  School Defendants’ failures to investigate Jane Does’ and her mother’s multiple
reports or take any corrective action against M.P. were clearly unreasonable in light of the
known circumstances.

108.  Through their actions and inaction School Defendants were deliberately
indifferent to the sexual harassment, assault, and violence that Jane Doe suffered at MSHS, and
proximately caused injury to Jane Doe.

109.  Through their actions and inaction School Defendants created a climate in which
sexual misconduct was tolerated, thus encouraging M.P.’s repeated sexual misconduct against
Jane Doe, and proximately caused additional injury to Jane Doe.

110.  Asaresult of School Defendants’ deliberate indifference, Jane Doe was subjected
to additional sexual harassment, assault, and violence by M.P.

111. The sexual harassment, assaults, and violence M.P. inflicted on Jane Doe were
severe, pervasive, and objectively offensive, and effectively barred Jane Doe’s access to

educational opportunities and benefits.
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112.  The sexual harassment, assaults, and violence M.P. inflicted on Jane Doe, along
with School Defendants’ refusal to investigate or take any action in response to reports of M.P.’s
sexual misconduct against Jane Doe, effectively barred Jane Doe’s access to educational
opportunities and benefits. Jane Doe had to leave MSHS and transfer to the alternative high
school in Macomb, where she was deprived of the benefit of interacting with peers and teachers
in live classrooms, had a more limited class selection, and could not take or participate in any
extracurricular activities.

113. By their actions and inaction School Defendants acted with deliberate indifference
toward the right of Jane Doe to a safe and secure education environment, thus materially
impairing Jane Doe’s ability to pursue her education at MSHS in violation of the requirements of
Title IX.

114.  Specifically, School Defendants violated Title IX by, infer alia:

a. Choosing to take no action to protect Jane Doe, despite knowledge of a need

to supervise, discipline, warn, or take other corrective action to prevent M.P.’s
further harassment, assaults, and violence against Jane Doe;

b. Choosing to take no action against M.P. to discipline or increase supervision
of him;
C. Ignoring complaints and reports regarding M.P.’s sexual harassment, assaults,

and violence against Jane Doe, or were deliberately indifferent thereto;

d. Failing to conduct their own investigation into reports of M.P.’s sexual
misconduct;
e. Requiring Jane Doe to protect herself from further sexual harassment, assault,

and violence from M.P., with no assistance from School Defendants;

f. Protecting and advocating for M.P., despite multiple reports of his sexual
harassment, assaults, and violence against Jane Doe;

g. Creating a climate that tolerated sexual harassment, assault, violence, and

other misconduct, and that tolerated the complete disregard of reports of
sexual misconduct by M.P., or were deliberately indifferent thereto;
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m.

115.

Failing to develop or adopt policies and procedures to properly address
complaints of student-against-student sexual harassment, assault, and
violence;

Failing to develop or adopt policies and procedures regarding prompt and
equitable grievance procedures and investigation of reports of student-against-
student sexual harassment, assault, and violence;

Failing to provide policy, procedures, or training for administrators,
employees, students, and students’ parents about sexual harassment and
assault;

Failing to terminate or otherwise discipline School Defendants’ employees
and agents identified herein for their willful disregard to Jane Doe’s safety and
rights, or were deliberately indifferent thereto;

Failing to provide, offer, recommend, or coordinate adequate health,
psychological, counseling, and academic assistance and services to Jane Doe
after she was sexually harassed, assaulted, and violated by M.P.; or being
deliberately indifferent thereto; and

Through other actions, inaction, and deliberate indifference.

As a direct and proximate result of School Defendants’ action, inaction, and

deliberate indifference, Plaintiff Jane Doe sustained and continues to sustain injuries for which

she is entitled to be compensated, including but not limited to:

a.

Past, present, and future physical and psychological pain, suffering and
impairment;

Medical bills, counseling, and other costs and expenses for past and future
medical and psychological care;

Impaired educational capacity;
Attorneys’ fees and costs; and

Such other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper.
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COUNT II
Violation of the Educational Amendments of 1972 (Title IX), 20 U.S.C. § 1681, ef seq.
(Against School Defendants)
As to Jane Roe, Pre- and Post-Report

116. Plaintiffs incorporate all preceding paragraphs into this Count by reference as
though fully stated herein.

117.  School Defendants had actual knowledge of Jane Doe’s and her mother’s many
reports of M.P.’s sexually inappropriate touching, sexual harassment, and sexual violence against
Jane Doe, and the substantial risk M.P. posed of sexually harassing and abusing other female
students, including Jane Roe.

118.  The individuals with actual knowledge, including Defendants Rumley and
Fulkerson, had the authority and ability to investigate and take meaningful corrective action to
end or prevent M.P.’s repeat sexual harassment, assaults, and violence against female students,
including Jane Roe, but failed to do so.

119.  School Defendants’ failure to investigate Jane Doe’s and her mother’s multiple
reports or take any corrective action against M.P. created a climate in which M.P.’s sexual
misconduct was tolerated, thus encouraging M.P.’s sexual harassment, assaults, and violence
against Jane Roe, and proximately caused injury to Jane Roe.

120.  School Defendants had actual knowledge that M.P. reportedly sexually harassed
and assaulted Jane Doe, and that he posed a substantial risk of sexually harassing and abusing
other students, but they took no action to protect other female students from M.P., and
proximately caused injury to Jane Roe.

121.  As aresult of School Defendants’ deliberate indifference, Jane Roe was subjected

to sexual harassment, assault, and violence by M.P.
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122.  The sexual harassment, assaults, and violence M.P. inflicted on Jane Roe were
severe, pervasive, and objectively offensive, and effectively barred Jane Roe’s access to
educational opportunities and benefits.

123.  School Defendants’ failures to investigate Jane and Julie Roe’s report of M.P.’s
sexual violence against Jane Roe, or take any meaningful corrective action against M.P., were
clearly unreasonable in light of the known circumstances.

124.  School Defendants had an obligation under Title IX to address sexual violence
that creates a hostile environment at school, even if perpetrated outside of the school’s grounds.

125. The sexual harassment, assaults, and violence M.P. inflicted on Jane Roe, along
with School Defendants’ refusal to investigate or take any action in response to reports of M.P.’s
sexual misconduct against Jane Roe, effectively barred Jane Roe’s access to educational
opportunities and benefits. Jane Roe had to leave MSHS and transfer to the alternative school in
Macomb, where she was deprived of the benefit of interacting with peers and teachers in live
classrooms, had a more limited class selection, could not take participate in any extracurricular
activities, and had no Section 504 accommodations. Defendants refused to allow Jane Roe to
return to MSHS or to even participate in extracurricular activities at MSHS.

126. By their actions and inactions, School Defendants acted with deliberate
indifference toward the right of Jane Roe to a safe and secure education environment, thus
materially impairing Jane Roe’s ability to pursue her education at MSHS in violation of the
requirements of Title IX.

127.  Specifically, School Defendants violated Title IX by, inter alia:

a. Ignoring complaints and reports regarding M.P.’s sexual harassment, assaults,
and violence against Jane Doe, or were deliberately indifferent thereto;
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b. Choosing to take no action against M.P. to discipline or increase supervision
of him after receiving Jane Doe’s and her mother’s multiple reports of M.P.’s
sexual harassment, assaults, and violence;

C. Failing to protect female students like Jane Roe from the known substantial
risk M.P. posed of sexually harassing and abusing her;

d. Failing to conduct their own investigation into reports of M.P.’s sexual
harassment, violence and assaults against Jane Roe;

e. Requiring Jane Roe to protect herself from further sexual harassment, assault,
and violence from M.P., with no assistance from School Defendants;

f. Protecting and advocating for M.P., despite multiple reports of his sexual
harassment, assaults, and violence against Jane Doe and Jane Roe;

g. Creating a climate that tolerated sexual harassment, assault, violence, and
other misconduct, and that tolerated the complete disregard of reports of
sexual misconduct by M.P., or were deliberately indifferent thereto;

h. Failing to develop or adopt policies and procedures to properly address
complaints of student-against-student sexual harassment, assault, and
violence;

i. Failing to develop or adopt policies and procedures regarding prompt and

equitable grievance procedures and investigation of reports of student-against-
student sexual harassment, assault, and violence;

J- Failing to provide policy, procedures, or training for administrators,
employees, students, and students’ parents about sexual harassment and
assault;

k. Failing to terminate or otherwise discipline School Defendants’ employees

and agents identified herein for their willful disregard to Jane Roe’s safety and
rights, or were deliberately indifferent thereto;

L Failing to provide, offer, recommend, or coordinate adequate health,
psychological, counseling, and academic assistance and services to Jane Roe

after she was sexually harassed, assaulted, and violated by M.P.; or being
deliberately indifferent thereto;

m. Refusing to allow Jane Roe to return to MSHS or participate in extracurricular
activities at MSHS; and

n. Through other actions, inaction, and deliberate indifference.
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128.  As adirect and proximate result of School Defendants’ action, inaction, and
deliberate indifference, Plaintiff Jane Roe sustained and continues to sustain injuries for which

she is entitled to be compensated, including but not limited to:

a. Past, present, and future physical and psychological pain, suffering and
impairment;
b. Medical bills, counseling, and other costs and expenses for past and future

medical and psychological care;

c. Impaired educational capacity;
d. Attorneys’ fees and costs; and
e. Such other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper.
COUNT I
Violation of the Educational Amendments of 1972 (Title IX), 20 U.S.C. § 1681, ef seq.
Retaliation

(Against School Defendants)
As to Jane Doe

129.  Plaintiffs incorporate all preceding paragraphs into this Count by reference as

though fully stated herein.

130.  Reporting sexual assault and harassment to school officials is a statutorily
protected activity under Title IX. Reporting incidents of sexual discrimination is integral to Title

IX enforcement.

131.  Because Jane Doe reported M.P.’s sexual harassment to School Defendants,
M.P.’s parent, an employee at and agent of School Defendants, retaliated against Jane by openly

gossiping about her to other teachers, in front of Jane, and giving her failing grades.

132. On May 12, 2014, Jane Doe’s mother reported this to Superintendent Twomey, an

agent of School Defendants, who permitted the retaliation to continue.
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133. School Defendants, through their agents, acted materially adverse against Jane
Doe in that they negatively impacted her grades, deprived her of educational opportunities and
benefits, and subjected her to a hostile education environment.

134.  As a direct and proximate result of School Defendants’ retaliation, Plaintiff Jane

Doe sustained and continues to sustain injuries for which she is entitled to be compensated,

including but not limited to:

a. Past, present, and future physical and psychological pain, suffering and
impairment;
b. Medical bills, counseling, and other costs and expenses for past and future

medical and psychological care;

C. Impaired educational capacity;
d. Attorneys’ fees and costs; and
e. Such other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper.
COUNT IV
Violation of the Educational Amendments of 1972 (Title IX), 20 U.S.C. § 1681, et seq.
Retaliation

(Against School Defendants)
As to Jane Roe

135.  Plaintiffs incorporate all preceding paragraphs into this Count by reference as
though fully stated herein.

136.  Reporting sexual assault and harassment to school officials is a statutorily
protected activity under Title IX. Reporting incidents of sexual discrimination is integral to Title
IX enforcement.

137.  Because Jane Roe reported M.P.’s sexual harassment, assaults, and violence, to
School Defendants through its agents, Defendants Rumley and Fulkerson, they retaliated against
Jane when they refused to allow her to return from ASE to MSHS, and denied her request to

attend and participate in extracurricular activities at MSHS.
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138.  School Defendants’ actions were materially adverse against Jane Roe in that they
excluded her from MSHS programs and activities unavailable at ASE, deprived her of
educational opportunities and benefits, and deprived her of Section 504 accommodations.

139.  Asa direct and proximate result of Defendant School District’s and School
Board’s retaliation, Plaintiff Jane Roe sustained and continues to sustain injuries for which she is

entitled to be compensated, including but not limited to:

a. Past, present, and future physical and psychological pain, suffering and
impairment;
b. Medical bills, counseling, and other costs and expenses for past and future

medical and psychological care;

c. Impaired educational capacity;

d. Attorneys’ fees and costs; and

e. Such other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper.
COUNT V

Violation of Plaintiffs’ Constitutional and Federal Rights, brought under 42 U.S.C. § 1983
Failure to Train
(Against School Defendants)
As to Jane Roe and Jane Doe
140.  Plaintiffs incorporate all preceding paragraphs into this Count by reference as
though fully stated herein.
141.  Sexual harassment is a form of unlawful sex discrimination that can violate the
Equal Protection Clause of the 14th Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. Plaintiffs’ Equal
Protection rights were violated when they suffered sexual harassment and discrimination at
MSHS.
142.  Plaintiffs had federal civil rights secured by federal statute, Title IX of the

Education Amendments of 1972, which provides in pertinent part:
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[N]o person . . . shall, on the basis of sex, be excluded from participation in,
be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any
education program or activity receiving Federal financial assistance.

143.  Title IX was intended to benefit students like Plaintiffs.

144.  Title IX provides students like Plaintiffs clear civil rights, which are not
amorphous or vague, to be free from known sexual discrimination at school.

145.  Title IX imposes a binding mandatory obligation on schools like School
Defendants that are recipients of federal funding that prohibits them from discriminating against
students on the basis of sex.

146. The U.S. Supreme Court, in Fitzgerald v. Barnstable Sch. Comm., 555 U.S. 246,
255-58 (2009), stated, “we conclude that Title IX was not meant to be an exclusive mechanism
for addressing gender discrimination in schools,” and held a plaintiff may bring causes of action
under both Title IX and § 1983 for unlawful sex discrimination. Accordingly, a remedy for sex
discrimination in schools is not foreclosed under §1983.

147. At all times relevant hereto, School Defendants were policy makers and
administrators who had a duty to train, and failed to train, administrators, staff, students, and
parents concerning sexual discrimination and harassment against students, Title IX and/or
student-against-student sexual misconduct and identifying, investigating, reporting, and stopping
sexual harassment by students like M.P. against students like Jane Doe and Jane Roe.

148. At all times relevant hereto, School Defendénts were policy makers and
administrators who had a duty to train, and failed to train, administrators, staff, students, and
parents regarding any school policies concerning sexual discrimination and harassment against
students, Title IX and/or student-against-student sexual misconduct and identifying,

investigating, reporting, and stopping sexual harassment by students like M.P. against students

like Jane Doe and Jane Roe.
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149.  School Defendants failed to train administrators, staff, students and parents
despite the plainly obvious need for training on, among other things, student-against-student
sexual misconduct and identifying, investigating, reporting, and stopping sexual harassment like
that engaged in by M.P.

150. Numerous authorities, including the U.S. Supreme Court and U.S. Department of
Education, made clear to School Defendants that school employees will confront student sexual
harassment and abuse with regularity, given the high predictability, recurrence and prevalence of
student-against-student sexual assault and abuse in schools. It was inevitable that School
Defendants’ administrators and employees would encounter recurrent situations involving sexual
abuse that implicated students’ Constitutional and federal rights, and they did, in fact, encounter
those recurring situations.

151. Defendants failed to adequately train administrators, staff, students, and parents,
and thereby prohibit or discourage readily foreseeable conduct, despite the clearly established
and well known known dangers of sexual harassment, assault, battery, and violence faced by
students in U.S. public schools, and thereby were deliberately indifferent.

152. Defendants’ failure to train administrators, staff, students, and parents effectively
denied Plaintiffs’ clearly established federal rights and Constitutional rights.

153.  School Defendants failed to train administrators, staff, students, and parents in
deliberate, reckless, and callous indifference to Plaintiff’s federally protected rights.

154.  As a direct and natural consequence of School Defendants’ actions, inactions, and
deliberate indifference to and violation of Plaintiffs’ clearly established Constitutional and
federal rights, Plaintiffs suffered, and continue to suffer, injuries including, without limitation,

emotional distress, psychological trauma, and mortification.
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155.  Asadirect and proximate result of School Defendants’ actions, inaction,
deliberate indifference to, and violation of Plaintiffs’ clearly established Constitutional and
federal rights, Plaintiffs sustained and continue to sustain injuries for which they are entitled to

be compensated, including but not limited to:

a. Past, present, and future physical and psychological pain, suffering and
impairment;
b. Medical bills, counseling, and other costs and expenses for past and future

medical and psychological care;

c. Impaired educational capacity;

d. Attorneys’ fees and costs; and

e. Such other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper.
COUNT VI

Willful and Wanton Misconduct Under Illinois State Law
(Against Individual Defendants Rumley and Fulkerson)
As to Jane Doe and Jane Roe

156.  Plaintiffs incorporate all preceding paragraphs into this Count by reference as
though fully stated herein

157. M.P. was a student at MSHS and was subject to Defendants Rumley and
Fulkerson’s authority.

158. Defendants Rumley and Fulkerson possessed unique knowledge that M.P. posed a
particular threat to student Jane Doe and all female students, including Jane Roe, and thereby had
a duty to protect Jane Doe and Jane Roe from M.P.’s sexual harassment, assault, battery, and
violence.

159. Defendants Rumley and Fulkerson, after learning of M.P.’s sexual harassment,

battery, and assault against Jane Doe, did nothing to discipline M.P., supervise his activities on

school property, or prevent his continued sexual misconduct against Jane Doe and female
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students, including Jane Roe, and thereby breached their duties by acting with utter indifference
to and conscious disregard for the welfare, well-being, and safety of Jane Doe, Jane Roe, and all

female students at MSHS.

160.  As a direct and proximate result of Defendants Rumley and Fulkerson’s breach of
their duties to protect Jane Doe and Jane Roe from M.P.’s sexual harassment, assault, battery and
violence, Plaintiffs Jane Doe and Jane Roe sustained and continue to sustain injuries for which

they are entitled to be compensated, including but not limited to:

a. Past, present, and future physical and psychological pain, suffering and
impairment;
b. Medical bills, counseling, and other costs and expenses for past and future

medical and psychological care;

c. Impaired educational capacity;

d. Punitive damages as necessary and sufficient to deter Individual Defendants
Rumley and Fulkerson from engaging in the same or similar behavior in the
future; and

e. Such other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper.

COUNT VII

Premises Liability Under Illinois State Law
(Against School Defendants)
As to Jane Doe and Jane Roe
161. Plaintiffs incorporate all preceding paragraphs into this Count by reference as
though fully stated herein.
162.  School Defendants had a duty to exercise ordinary care to maintain school

property in a reasonably safe condition for the use of people whom School Defendants intended

and permitted to use the property, including students Jane Doe and Jane Roe.
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163.  School Defendants had actual notice of the dangerous conditions on school
premises at MSHS caused by M.P.’s sexual harassment, touching, batteries, and assaults against
Jane Doe and Jane Roe.

164.  School Defendants possessed unique knowledge that M.P. posed a particular
threat to student Jane Doe and all female students, including Jane Roe, and thereby had a duty to
protect Jane Doe and Jane Roe from the dangerous conditions posed by M.P.’s sexual
harassment, assault, battery, and violence at MSHS.

165.  School Defendants consciously disregarded the known dangerous conditions on
school property at MSHS posed by student M.P. to Jane Doe and Jane Roe.

166. As a direct and proximate result of School Defendants’ conscious disregard of
known dangerous conditions at MSHS, Plaintiffs Jane Doe and Jane Roe sustained and continue

to sustain injuries for which they are entitled to be compensated, including but not limited to:

a. Past, present, and future physical and psychological pain, suffering and
impairment;
b. Medical bills, counseling, and other costs and expenses for past and future

medical and psychological care;

C. Impaired educational capacity; and
d. Such other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper.
PRAYER FOR RELIEF

Plaintiffs prays the Court for judgment against Defendants, jointly and severally, for an
amount of no less than $10,000,000.00 for compensatory and punitive damages, together with

costs of this suit, legal interest, reasonable attorney’s fees and such other relief as the Court may

deem just and proper under the circumstances

JURY DEMAND

Plaintiffs demand trial by jury.
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Respectfully Submitted,
JANE DOE; and JANE ROE, by and through
her next friend, JULIE ROE, Plaintiffs

By: s/ Jeff Green
JEFF GREEN, Attorney for Plaintiffs

Jeff Green #6275034

LAW OFFICE OF JEFF GREEN
316 SW Washington St. Unit 1A
Peoria IHinois 61602

Telephone 309-699-0111

Fax 309-699-4693
jgreen@jeffereenlaw.com
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0 130 Miller Act 3 315 Airplane Product Product Liability 3 690 Other 28 USC 157 3729(a))
O 140 Negotiable Instrument Liability O 367 Health Care/ 3 400 State Reapportionment
0 150 Recovery of Overpayment | 320 Assault, Libel & Pharmaceutical PROPERTY RIGHTS 3 410 Antitrust
& Enforcement of Judgment Slander Personal Injury 3 820 Copyrights 3 430 Banks and Banking
0 151 Medicare Act 3 330 Federal Employers’ Product Liability 7 830 Patent 7 450 Commerce
O 152 Recovery of Defaulted Liability [ 368 Asbestos Personal 3 835 Patent - Abbreviated [ 460 Deportation
Student Loans 3 340 Marine Injury Product New Drug Application |3 470 Racketeer Influenced and
(Excludes Veterans) 3 345 Marine Product Liability 3 840 Trademark Corrupt Organizations
0 153 Recovery of Overpayment Liability PERSONAL PROPERTY LABOR SOCIAL SECURITY 0 480 Consumer Credit
of Veteran’s Benefits 3 350 Motor Vehicle 3 370 Other Fraud [ 710 Fair Labor Standards 0 861 HIA (1395ff) 7 490 Cable/Sat TV
O 160 Stockholders’ Suits 3 355 Motor Vehicle O 371 Truth in Lending Act 3 862 Black Lung (923) O 850 Securities/Commodities/
0 190 Other Contract Product Liability 3 380 Other Personal 3 720 Labor/Management 0 863 DIWC/DIWW (405(g)) Exchange
3 195 Contract Product Liability |3 360 Other Personal Property Damage Relations 3 864 SSID Title XVI [ 890 Other Statutory Actions
0 196 Franchise Injury [ 385 Property Damage O 740 Railway Labor Act 3 865 RSI (405(q)) 3 891 Agricultural Acts
3 362 Personal Injury - Product Liability 0 751 Family and Medical 3 893 Environmental Matters
Medical Malpractice Leave Act 3 895 Freedom of Information

| REAL PROPERTY. CIVIL RIGHTS PRISONER PETITIONS | 790 Other Labor Litigation FEDERAL TAX SUITS Act
3 210 Land Condemnation 3 440 Other Civil Rights Habeas Corpus: 3 791 Employee Retirement 3 870 Taxes (U.S. Plaintiff 3 896 Arbitration
O 220 Foreclosure 3 441 Voting O 463 Alien Detainee Income Security Act or Defendant) 3 899 Administrative Procedure
O 230 Rent Lease & Ejectment 3 442 Employment 3 510 Motions to Vacate 3 871 IRS—Third Party Act/Review or Appeal of
3 240 Torts to Land 3 443 Housing/ Sentence 26 USC 7609 Agency Decision
0 245 Tort Product Liability Accommodations 3 530 General 3 950 Constitutionality of
3 290 All Other Real Property 3 445 Amer. w/Disabilities - | O 535 Death Penalty IMMIGRATION State Statutes
Employment Other: O 462 Naturalization Application
3 446 Amer. w/Disabilities - | 7 540 Mandamus & Other | 465 Other Immigration
Other 3 550 Civil Rights Actions
0 448 Education [ 555 Prison Condition
3 560 Civil Detainee -
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INSTRUCTIONS FOR ATTORNEYS COMPLETING CIVIL COVER SHEET FORM JS 44
Authority For Civil Cover Sheet

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replaces nor supplements the filings and service of pleading or other papers as
required by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is
required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. Consequently, a civil cover sheet is submitted to the Clerk of
Court for each civil complaint filed. The attorney filing a case should complete the form as follows:

1.(a)

(b)

(©

VI.

VIL

VIIL.

Plaintiffs-Defendants. Enter names (last, first, middle initial) of plaintiff and defendant. If the plaintiff or defendant is a government agency, use
only the full name or standard abbreviations. If the plaintiff or defendant is an official within a government agency, identify first the agency and
then the official, giving both name and title.

County of Residence. For each civil case filed, except U.S. plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county where the first listed plaintiff resides at the
time of filing. In U.S. plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county in which the first listed defendant resides at the time of filing. (NOTE: In land
condemnation cases, the county of residence of the "defendant™ is the location of the tract of land involved.)

Attorneys. Enter the firm name, address, telephone number, and attorney of record. If there are several attorneys, list them on an attachment, noting
in this section "(see attachment)".

Jurisdiction. The basis of jurisdiction is set forth under Rule 8(a), F.R.Cv.P., which requires that jurisdictions be shown in pleadings. Place an X"
in one of the boxes. If there is more than one basis of jurisdiction, precedence is given in the order shown below.

United States plaintiff. (1) Jurisdiction based on 28 U.S.C. 1345 and 1348. Suits by agencies and officers of the United States are included here.
United States defendant. (2) When the plaintiff is suing the United States, its officers or agencies, place an "X" in this box.

Federal question. (3) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1331, where jurisdiction arises under the Constitution of the United States, an amendment
to the Constitution, an act of Congress or a treaty of the United States. In cases where the U.S. is a party, the U.S. plaintiff or defendant code takes
precedence, and box 1 or 2 should be marked.

Diversity of citizenship. (4) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1332, where parties are citizens of different states. When Box 4 is checked, the
citizenship of the different parties must be checked. (See Section 111 below; NOTE: federal question actions take precedence over diversity
cases.)

Residence (citizenship) of Principal Parties. This section of the JS 44 is to be completed if diversity of citizenship was indicated above. Mark this
section for each principal party.

Nature of Suit. Place an "X" in the appropriate box. If there are multiple nature of suit codes associated with the case, pick the nature of suit code
that is most applicable. Click here for: Nature of Suit Code Descriptions.

Origin. Place an "X" in one of the seven boxes.

Original Proceedings. (1) Cases which originate in the United States district courts.

Removed from State Court. (2) Proceedings initiated in state courts may be removed to the district courts under Title 28 U.S.C., Section 1441.
When the petition for removal is granted, check this box.

Remanded from Appellate Court. (3) Check this box for cases remanded to the district court for further action. Use the date of remand as the filing
date.

Reinstated or Reopened. (4) Check this box for cases reinstated or reopened in the district court. Use the reopening date as the filing date.
Transferred from Another District. (5) For cases transferred under Title 28 U.S.C. Section 1404(a). Do not use this for within district transfers or
multidistrict litigation transfers.

Multidistrict Litigation — Transfer. (6) Check this box when a multidistrict case is transferred into the district under authority of Title 28 U.S.C.
Section 1407.

Multidistrict Litigation — Direct File. (8) Check this box when a multidistrict case is filed in the same district as the Master MDL docket.
PLEASE NOTE THAT THERE IS NOT AN ORIGIN CODE 7. Origin Code 7 was used for historical records and is no longer relevant due to
changes in statue.

Cause of Action. Report the civil statute directly related to the cause of action and give a brief description of the cause. Do not cite jurisdictional
statutes unless diversity. Example: U.S. Civil Statute: 47 USC 553 Brief Description: Unauthorized reception of cable service

Requested in Complaint. Class Action. Place an "X" in this box if you are filing a class action under Rule 23, F.R.Cv.P.
Demand. In this space enter the actual dollar amount being demanded or indicate other demand, such as a preliminary injunction.
Jury Demand. Check the appropriate box to indicate whether or not a jury is being demanded.

Related Cases. This section of the JS 44 is used to reference related pending cases, if any. If there are related pending cases, insert the docket
numbers and the corresponding judge names for such cases.

Date and Attorney Signature. Date and sign the civil cover sheet.
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